STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Marlboro County

Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
FEB 08 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PHILLIP ANTONIO STACKHOUSE

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002048

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in refusing to dismiss the indictment because Appellant was denied his state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 18, 2016, the Marlboro County Grand jury indicted Appellant, Phillip Antoine Stackhouse, for murder, indictment #2016-GS-34-0426. On March 22, 2017, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall and moved for a speedy trial. (R. p. 8, lines 1-6). During this hearing Appellant was represented by Patricia Rivers who was standing in for Michael Stephens. Judge Hall denied the motion for a speedy trial. (R. p. 9, lines 2-22). On July 24, 2017, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. At this hearing the State moved for a continuance. (R. p. 15, lines 1-16). Appellant objected to the State's motion for a continuance and renewed the motion for a speedy trial. (R. p. 15, line 18 – p. 16, lines 1-22). Judge Burch granted the State's continuance motion but also ordered that if the case was not tried during the September term, bond could be considered. (R. p. 17, line 20 – p. 18, lines 1-11). When Judge Burch was informed that bond had not been set on the charge because Appellant was serving an active sentence in the South Carolina Department of Corrections, he set a \$100,000.00 bond. (R. p. 19, lines 1-25).

On September 18, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Steven H. John. As in the July 2017, hearing, Michael Stephens represented Appellant. As in both previous hearings, Elizabeth Munnerlyn represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty and Judge John sentenced Appellant to forty-two (42) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on October 2, 2017. This appeal follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The trial court's ruling on a motion for speedy trial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 794 S.E.2d 368 (2016).

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge erred in refusing to dismiss the indictment because Appellant was denied his state and federal constitutional right to a speedy trial.**

The jury found Appellant guilty of the fatal stabbing of Oliver Johnson on February 23, 2016, inside of Evans Correctional Institution. Appellant was arrested on February 25, 2016. (R. p. 17, lines 12-13). Appellant was indicted eight months later in October of 2016. (R. p. 555-556). On March 22, 2017, Appellant asserted his right to a speedy trial. (R. pp. 7-10). When the case was not tried in July of 2017, Appellant re-asserted his right to a speedy trial. (R. pp. 15-19). Appellant was finally tried on September 18, 2017.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides that “Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. A speedy trial means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) (quoting Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966)). In Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 374–75, 89 S. Ct. 575, 575, 21 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1969), the United States Supreme Court wrote, “In Klopper v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213, 87 S.Ct. 988, 18 L.Ed.2d 1, this Court held that, by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment, the Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial<sup>1</sup> is enforceable against the States as ‘one of the most basic rights preserved by our Constitution.’ Id., at 226, 87 S.Ct. at 995.” The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted).

In determining whether a defendant has been deprived of the right to a speedy trial, the court must consider four factors: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of the right; and, (4) prejudice to the defendant. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed 2d 101 (1972). Although there is no fixed time in which a defendant must be tried, the right to a speedy trial may be violated where the delay is arbitrary and unreasonable. State v. Waites, 270 S.C 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). In a footnote in Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992), the Court wrote, "Depending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found post accusation delay 'presumptively prejudicial' at least as it approaches one year." Doggett Fn. 1

In Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 442, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) the Court wrote:

We begin our analysis with the "triggering mechanism" of a speedy trial claim, which is the length of the delay. Barker, 407 U.S. at 530, 92 S.Ct. 2182. We should not even examine the remaining factors "[u]ntil there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial." Id. The clock starts running on a defendant's speedy trial right when he is "indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused," and therefore we are to include the time between arrest and indictment. United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6, 102 S.Ct. 1497, 71 L.Ed.2d 696 (1982).

Appellant was arrested on February 25, 2016, and not tried until over a year later on September 18, 2017. The over one-year delay in the present case triggers the speedy trial analysis. In balancing the Barker factors, as to the first factor, the length of the delay, the over one-year delay should be weighed against the State.

As to the second factor from Barker, the reason for the delay, during the March 22, 2017, hearing when Appellant first asserted his right to a speedy trial, the State offered no reason for the delay and simply told the judge, "We were prepared to respond to the speedy trial motion, we are preparing this for trial. We hope to call it during our May term but certainly no later than our next summer term. We don't have the July and August terms yet because they just haven't been

set, but we plan to either have it tried in May or in our next term following that.” (R. p. 8, lines 14 – 19). The case was not called to trial in May. In July the State moved for a continuance because the forensic pathologist was at a conference out of state. (R. p. 15, lines 4-16). The delay in the present case is wholly attributed to the State. During the July hearing the State, again, offered no reason for the delay and no explanation as to why the case was not called in May, as discussed during the March hearing. A May trial date would have avoided the scheduling conflict the forensic pathologist had in July.

Even neutral reasons weigh against the State because “the ultimate responsibility for such circumstances must rest with the government rather than with the defendant.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 531.

Although negligence is obviously to be weighed more lightly than a deliberate intent to harm the accused’s defense, it still falls on the wrong side of the divide between acceptable and unacceptable reasons for delaying a criminal prosecution once it has begun. And such is the nature of the prejudice presumed that the weight we assign to official negligence compounds over time as the presumption of evidentiary prejudice grows. Thus, our toleration of such negligence varies inversely with its protractedness . . . and its consequent threat to the fairness of the accused’s trial. Condoning prolonged and unjustifiable delays in prosecution would both penalize many defendants for the state’s fault and simply encourage the government to gamble with the interests of criminal suspects assigned to a low prosecutorial priority. The Government, indeed, can hardly complain too loudly, for persistent neglect in concluding a criminal prosecution indicates an uncommonly feeble interest in bringing an accused to justice; the more weight the Government attaches to securing a conviction, the harder it will try to get it.

Doggett, 505 U.S. at 657. The State’s failure to provide any reasonable explanation for the delay in calling the case for trial from the time of arrest in February of 2016, until July of 2017, weighs heavily against the State. The State’s negligence in failing to call the case earlier created the need for the State to seek a continuance in July because of the scheduling conflict with a witness. The

continued delay between July 2016, and the trial in September of 2016, should also be weighed against the State.

As to the third factor from Barker, Appellant's assertion of the right to a speedy trial, Appellant asserted the right to a speedy trial during the March 2017, hearing, during the July 2017, hearing and again when the case was finally called to trial in September 2017. (R. p. 8, lines 1-6; R. pp. 15-19; R. p. 40, lines 14-20). "Whether a defendant previously asserted the right to a speedy trial is not alone dispositive of whether he is entitled to relief. See Barker, 407 U.S. at 533, 92 S.Ct. 2182 (holding none of the four factors are either necessary or sufficient to find a denial of the right to a speedy trial). The accused's assertion of the right, however, is entitled strong evidentiary weight in determining whether the accused is being deprived of the right. Barker, 407 U.S. at 531-32, 92 S.Ct. 2182." State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 349, 794 S.E.2d 368, 375 (2016). Appellant's assertion of the right to a speedy trial is strong evidence that he was deprived of the right to a speedy trial.

As to the fourth factor from Barker, prejudice, a defendant is not required to show prejudice affirmatively to win a speedy trial claim. Moore v. Arizona, 414 U.S. 25, 26 (1973); see also United States v. Ferreira, 665 F.3d 701, 706-707 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011); U.S. v. Molina-Solorio, 577 F.3d 300, 307-308 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009); United States v. Frith, 181 F.3d 92 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999); United States v. Clark, 83 F.3d 1350, 1353-1354 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996). In Doggett the Court granted relief while noting that he "did indeed come up short" in making "any affirmative showing that the delay weakened his ability to raise specific defenses, elicit specific testimony, or produce specific items of evidence." As a result, the Court explained "we generally have to recognize that excessive delay presumptively compromises the reliability of a trial in ways that neither party can prove, or for that matter, identify." In light of the difficult nature of proving prejudice, the Court held that the

importance of presumptive prejudice increases with the length of delay. Doggett, 505 U.S. at 655-656. In the absence of proof of particularized prejudice, the state's negligence and a substantial delay will compel relief unless the presumption of prejudice is either "extenuated, as by the defendant's acquiescence, or persuasively rebutted" by the prosecution. Id. at 658.

The presumption of prejudice in the present case was neither extenuated by Appellant's acquiescence nor persuasively rebutted by the prosecution. In denying the speedy trial motion in March the judge stated, "The case even though it is a little bit over a year old that is – in South Carolina that is not a burdensome delay. In fact, often times cases are much older than a year, year and a half before they get tried. He is incarcerated on a sentence at this time so it doesn't appear to be any prejudice to him. As far as his standing in the community and his release he's not to be released immediately." (R. p. 9, lines 3-10). The judge abused his discretion in refusing to grant the speedy trial motion. First, the fact that the State routinely fails to call cases for trial in a timely manner does not deprive Appellant of his speedy trial claim. Second, the fact that Appellant was incarcerated on another charge does not deprive Appellant of a speedy trial claim, especially when Appellant was incarcerated within the State serving a sentence for a state criminal charge.

In Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 89 S. Ct. 575, 21 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1969), the United States Supreme Court held that the State of Texas had a constitutional duty to bring a case to trial even if the defendant was serving a federal sentence.

The Court wrote:

At first blush it might appear that a man already in prison under a lawful sentence is hardly in a position to suffer from 'undue and oppressive incarceration prior to trial.' But the fact is that delay in bringing such a person to trial on a pending charge may ultimately result in as much oppression as is suffered by one who is jailed without bail upon an untried charge. First, the possibility that the defendant

already in prison might receive a sentence at least partially concurrent with the one he is serving may be forever lost if trial of the pending charge is postponed. Secondly, under procedures now widely practiced, the duration of his present imprisonment may be increased, and the conditions under which he must serve his sentence greatly worsened, by the pendency of another criminal charge outstanding against him.

Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 378, 89 S. Ct. 575, 577, 21 L. Ed. 2d 607 (1969) (fn #7 and #8 omitted). In the present case Appellant was serving a state sentence in a South Carolina prison. As noted by the Court in Smith v. Hooey, "There can be no doubt that if the petitioner in the present case had been at large for a six-year period following his indictment, and had repeatedly demanded that he be brought to trial, the State would have been under a constitutional duty to try him. Klopfer v. North Carolina, *supra*, 386 U.S., at 219, 87 S.Ct., at 991. And Texas concedes that if during that period he had been confined in a Texas prison for some other state offense, its obligation would have been no less." 393 U.S. at 377, 89 S. Ct. at 576-77. The trial judge in the present case erred in finding no prejudice because Appellant was incarcerated on another charge.

In Hunsberger the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

First, we note that the trial court's ruling was influenced by an error of law in so much as it rested on a belief that actual prejudice—to the exclusion of presumptive prejudice—was the only type of prejudice that would support a speedy trial claim. In fact, an accused can assert actual prejudice or presumptive prejudice as the result of the State's violation of his right to a speedy trial. Actual prejudice occurs when the trial delay has weakened the accused's ability to raise specific defenses, elicit specific testimony, or produce specific items of evidence. See Doggett, 505 U.S. at 655, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (accepting the State's definition of actual prejudice). The United States Supreme Court also recognized that excessive delay presumptively compromises the reliability of a trial in ways that neither party can prove or even identify. *Id.* (internal citation omitted). This is so because "time's erosion of exculpatory evidence and testimony 'can rarely be shown.'" Doggett, 505 U.S. at 655, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (citing Barker, 407 U.S. at 532, 92 S.Ct. 2182). When the government persistently fails to try an accused and the delay is excessive, the accused need not show actual prejudice in order to prevail in his speedy trial claim. Doggett, 505 U.S. at 657-58, 112 S.Ct. 2686. While presumptive prejudice cannot alone support a speedy trial claim, it is part of the mix of relevant facts, and its importance increases with the length of time. Doggett, 505 U.S. at 656, 112 S.Ct. 2686 (internal citation omitted).

418 S.C. at 351, 794 S.E.2d at 376. While the delay in the present case was less than the delay in Hunsberger, prejudice should still be presumed by the State's negligence in failing to call the case for trial.