ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marlboro County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-002048

RECEIVED
FEB 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

PHILLIP ANTONIO STACKHOUSE

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 616
Bennettsville, SC 29512
(843) 479-6516

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marlboro County

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by failing to dismiss Appellant's murder indictment based on an alleged violation of Appellant's speedy trial rights because the approximately eighteen-month span of time between Appellant's arrest for murdering a fellow inmate at a correctional institution and Appellant's trial for that murder was not excessively or unreasonably lengthy, did not result from any intentional willfulness or unreasonable neglect on the part of the State, and did not cause any meaningful prejudice to Appellant, who had not yet been released from prison on an unrelated charge by the time he was tried for his most-recent victim's murder.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by failing to dismiss his indictment for murder based on an alleged violation of his speedy trial rights. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains his murder indictment should have been dismissed based on the roughly eighteen-month delay between his arrest and trial because the delay was purportedly presumptively prejudicial, the delay was allegedly wholly attributable to the State and was the product of inexcusable negligence, and he asserted his speedy trial rights at various points prior to the trial's commencement. To the contrary, the trial judge in no way abused his discretion by failing to dismiss Appellant's case based on an alleged speedy trial violation because the eighteen-month delay at issue was relatively minor, was not the result of any willfulness or unreasonable neglect on the part of the State, and did not result in any actual or meaningful prejudice to Appellant. Under such circumstances, Appellant's speedy trial rights were not violated and the extreme sanction of dismissal was not warranted. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

RELEVANT FACTS

On February 23, 2016, Appellant fatally stabbed another inmate incarcerated along with him at Evans Correctional Institution. (R. pp. 59-60; pp. 64-69; p. 301). Two days later, Appellant was formally arrested for and charged with his victim's murder. (R. p. 15; pp. 555-

556). Thereafter, on October 18, 2016, the Marlboro County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder.⁴ (R. pp. 555-556).

Subsequent to the issuance of the murder indictment, Appellant's defense counsel moved for a speedy trial, and, on March 22, 2017, a hearing was conducted on the motion in the Marlboro County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Daniel Dewitt Hall, circuit court judge, presiding. (R. p. 4; p. 7). Notably though, defense counsel was not personally available for the hearing due to a death in his family, so Appellant was represented at the hearing by temporary stand-in counsel. (R. p. 7; p. 15). During the course of the hearing, stand-in counsel maintained—incorrectly—Appellant was solely being held in the South Carolina Department of Corrections as a result of the pending murder charge and had completed the sentence he was serving at the time he killed Victim. (R. pp. 7-8; pp. 538-539). As a result, stand-in counsel requested Appellant receive a speedy trial or, in the alternative, have a bond amount set. (R. p. 8). In response, the solicitor indicated she was in process of preparing Appellant's case for trial and hoped to proceed forward with the trial either during the upcoming May 2017 term of court or the next available term of court after that. (R. p. 8). At that point, the circuit court judge denied the motion for a speedy trial and further declined to set a bond amount at that time. (R.

⁴ Several days before he was indicted by the grand jury, Appellant filed a pro se motion for his case to be *dismissed* based on a speedy trial violation. (R. pp. 1-3). However, the motion was *not* filed at the time it was submitted, which was likely due to the fact Appellant was represented by defense counsel at that time. See Miller v. State, 388 S.C. 347, 347, 697 S.E.2d 527, 527 (2010) (“Since there is no right to ‘hybrid representation’ that is partially pro se and partially by counsel, substantive documents, with the exception of motions to relieve counsel, filed pro se by a person represented by counsel are not to be accepted unless submitted by counsel. Because petitioner was represented by counsel, the pro se motion was not proper, should not have been accepted, and should not have been ruled upon. The motion was essentially a nullity.” (citations omitted)); State v. Stuckey, 333 S.C. 56, 58, 508 S.E.2d 564, 564 (1998) (“Since there is no right to hybrid representation, substantive documents filed pro se by a person represented by counsel are not accepted unless submitted by counsel.”); see also Foster v. State, 298 S.C. 306, 307, 379 S.E.2d 907, 907 (1989) (ordering the Clerk of Court to return a substantive pro se document filed while the petitioner was represented by counsel).

pp. 9-10). As support for that ruling, the trial judge determined the case, which involved a “very serious” charge, had not yet experienced a burdensome delay since it was just over a year old and found Appellant had not suffered any meaningful prejudice since he was presently incarcerated for an unrelated crime. (R. p. 9). However, the circuit court judge expressly indicated the matter could be revisited if Appellant was not tried by July of that year. (R. p. 9).

Thereafter, on July 19, 2017, defense counsel filed a motion for Appellant’s case to be dismissed, and, on July 24, 2017, a hearing was conducted on the motion in the Marlboro County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Paul M. Burch, circuit court judge, presiding.⁵ (R. pp. 12-13; p. 15). During the course of the hearing, the solicitor noted Appellant’s case had been scheduled for trial during that term of court and the State was ready for trial. (R. p. 15).

However, the solicitor indicated a critical witness—the forensic pathologist who determined Victim’s cause of death—was unavailable to appear that week because she was attending an out-of-state conference and, therefore, requested a continuance until the next available term of court, which was scheduled for just two months later. (R. p. 15; pp. 288-290; p. 301). At that point, defense counsel opposed the continuance request, renewed the motion for a speedy trial, and asserted Appellant had suffered prejudice because his time in prison had allegedly somehow been extended because his murder case was still pending.⁶ (R. pp. 15-16). Defense counsel then asked for the matter to be dismissed “if it can’t be tried” before alternatively asking for a

⁵ Through that motion, defense counsel sought dismissal based on an alleged double jeopardy violation and Appellant’s failure to receive a preliminary hearing. (R. p. 12). Notably though, defense counsel did *not* expressly seek dismissal based on the lack of a speedy trial. (R. p. 12).

⁶ Tellingly, defense counsel’s claim of Appellant being incarcerated solely because his murder charge was “pending” was wholly inaccurate as Appellant was *still* not due to be released from the sentence he was serving at the time he killed Victim by the time his case was brought to trial. (R. pp. 538-539). In fact, Appellant was not set to be released in connection to his earlier assault and battery with intent to kill conviction until January of 2018, which was a time period several months after he was brought to trial for Victim’s murder. (R. p. 539).

reasonable bond amount to be set. (R. p. 16). In rebuttal, the solicitor accurately noted Appellant was, in fact, being held in prison at that time on an unrelated charge, and she again maintained the State was prepared for trial and would be ready to proceed at the very next available term of court. (R. pp. 17-18; pp. 538-539). Upon considering the matter, the circuit court judge granted the solicitor's continuance request and further set a bond amount of \$100,000 for Appellant. (R. pp. 18-19). In doing so, the circuit court judge noted the Fourth Judicial Circuit in South Carolina had experienced a reduction in the number of terms of court scheduled, which the circuit court judge found was a matter beyond the control of the parties.⁷ (R. pp. 17-18).

Subsequently, Appellant's case was called to trial at the next available term of court, which began on September 18, 2017. (R. p. 26; pp. 35-36). At the outset of trial, defense counsel asked the trial judge to note the speedy trial motion raised during the July 2017 pre-trial hearing for record purposes without raising any additional arguments or motions in regard to Appellant's speedy trial rights, and the trial judge granted defense counsel's request. (R. p. 40). Thereafter, the trial proceeded forward, and, on the fourth day of trial, the jury convicted Appellant as indicted.⁸ (R. p. 536).

⁷ Supporting the circuit court judge's statement about the limited number of available terms of court, only eleven terms of court were conducted in the Marlboro County Court of General Sessions between the date Appellant murdered Victim and the date Appellant was brought to trial for Victim's murder. South Carolina Judicial Department Terms of Court Records, <https://www.sccourts.org/calendar/dspTermsCRCir.cfm>. Of those terms, one was held just days after the crime was committed, and three were only partial-week terms. Id. Furthermore, the term in which Appellant's case was brought to trial was the next available term of court after the solicitor successfully sought a continuance for good cause in July of 2017 and took place just six months after Appellant's first valid assertion of his speedy trial rights. Id.

⁸ In total, twenty-six different witnesses testified on behalf of the State during the course of trial. (R. pp. 28-31).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). When reviewing a ruling on a speedy trial motion on appeal, the appellate court reviews the trial judge's ruling under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371-372 (2016); see State v. Reaves, 414 S.C. 118, 132, 777 S.E.2d 213, 220 (2015) (“[A] trial court’s decision as to whether to dismiss an indictment based on speedy trial grounds is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); see also United States v. Summers, 666 F.3d 192, 197 (4th Cir. 2011) (instructing an appellate court will not find a trial judge’s ruling constituted an abuse of discretion unless it was arbitrary and irrational).

ANALYSIS

Pursuant to both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, an accused in a criminal prosecution has a constitutionally-guaranteed right to a speedy trial. See U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial[.]”); S.C. Const. art. I, §-14 (“Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial[.]”). That right is designed to protect against anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime and to limit the possibility of a lengthy pre-trial delay impairing an accused’s defense. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 440, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012). However, most importantly, the right to a speedy trial is chiefly designed to prevent undue pre-trial impairment of liberty. See United States v. Loud Hawk, 474 U.S. 302, 312 (1986) (“[T]he Speedy Trial Clause’s core concern is impairment of liberty[.]”).

In order to trigger a speedy trial analysis, a criminal defendant's trial must have been delayed for a period of time that is presumptively prejudicial, which necessarily depends on the particular circumstances of each case. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482. Notably, "a simple prosecution for ordinary street crime may have a lower threshold for a presumptively prejudicial delay than a more complex conspiracy case." Id. In South Carolina, a delay of over two years has previously been found to be sufficient to trigger a speedy trial analysis. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). Likewise, the United States Supreme Court has suggested a delay of roughly one year could—in certain circumstances—be presumptively prejudicial. See Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 652, n.1 (1992) ("Depending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found postaccusation delay 'presumptively prejudicial' at least as it approaches one year."). However, even where a delay that is presumptively prejudicial exists, a speedy trial determination "is *not based on the passage of a specific period of time*" and delay alone is not singularly dispositive. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2007) (emphasis added); see State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 75, 480 S.E.2d 64, 70 (1997) (recognizing "delay alone is not dispositive").

Ultimately, once a speedy trial analysis has been triggered, the question of whether a defendant's right to a speedy trial has been violated is necessarily dependent on the specific circumstances of the defendant's particular case. State v. Robinson, 335 S.C. 620, 625, 518 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1999). When attempting to answer that question, several factors should be considered. State v. Kennedy, 339 S.C. 243, 249, 528 S.E.2d 700, 703-704 (Ct. App. 2000). Specifically, a court analyzing a speedy trial claim should consider: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of his right; and (4) whether any prejudice was suffered by the defendant as a result of the delay. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514,

530 (1972). Notably though, none of the four factors is alone necessary or sufficient for a finding of a speedy trial violation. Id. at 533. Instead, “they are related factors and must be considered together with such other circumstances as may be relevant.” Id. “In sum, these factors have no talismanic qualities; courts must still engage in a difficult and sensitive balancing process.” Id.

In the case sub judice, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by failing to dismiss the murder indictment in Appellant’s case based on an alleged speedy trial violation. When considering the specific circumstances of Appellant’s case, the delay of just *eighteen months* between the time Appellant was arrested and ultimately tried was not exceptionally lengthy, which was particularly true in light of the fact Appellant’s case involved a murder committed inside a correctional institution, and arguably was not sufficiently lengthy to trigger a full analysis of the relevant speedy trial factors. See id. at 530 (“Until there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors that go into the balance.”); see also United States v. Salgado-Ramiro, 718 F. App’x 518, 519 (9th Cir. 2017) (recognizing an eighteen-month period of delay is not excessively long for speedy trial purposes); see generally United States v. Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 192 (1984) (recognizing there are “problems inherent in investigating prison crimes, such as the transient nature of the prison population and the general reluctance of inmates to cooperate”). However, even assuming the relatively minimal delay at issue in Appellant’s case could be considered presumptively prejudicial, it nonetheless was not sufficient to result in a violation of Appellant’s speedy trial rights when weighed in relation to the other relevant factors and circumstances of the case. See Brazell, 325 S.C. at 75, 480 S.E.2d at 70 (recognizing delay—although not dispositive—may be sufficient to trigger review of the relevant speedy trial factors).

Turning to the relevant factors, the eighteen-month delay involved in Appellant's case first and foremost was relatively minimal even if it was somehow presumptively prejudicial and, thus, did not weigh heavily against the State. See Doggett, 505 U.S. at 657 ("To be sure, to warrant granting relief, negligence unaccompanied by particularized trial prejudice must have lasted longer than negligence demonstrably causing such prejudice."). Similarly, the delay involved in Appellant's case was at least partially justified by a legitimate need for a continuance to obtain the presence of a critical witness, was attributable to some extent to the limited number of available terms of court in Marlboro County, was at least partially attributable to the time needed to investigate the crime and analyze the various items of evidence collected, and was in no way the result of any intentional and willful delay tactics on the part of the State designed to gain a tactical advantage over Appellant.^{9 10} See Pittman, 373 S.C. at 549, 647 S.E.2d at 155 ("A valid reason presented by the State may justify an appropriate delay."); see also Langford, 400 S.C. at 444, 735 S.E.2d at 483 ("[T]he State moved with reasonable haste given the few General Sessions terms scheduled for Edgefield County during that time."); State v. Chapman, 289 S.C. 42, 45, 344 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1986) ("A portion of the delay was caused by the normal condition of the docket. . . . The constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial affords protection only against unnecessary or unreasonable delay."); Kennedy, 339 S.C. at 250-251, 528 S.E.2d at 704-705 (finding the complexity of the case, which required substantial time to investigate and prepare,

⁹ Notably, it appears the State's analysis of the evidence collected during the investigation into the fatal stabbing may not have been completed until May of 2017. (R. pp. 550-554).

¹⁰ Although unquestionably justified, some of the delay involved in Appellant's case is at least arguably attributable to the defense since defense counsel was not present—and, thus, not available to proceed forward to trial—during the May 2017 term of court in which the issue of a speedy trial was first discussed with a circuit court judge. See State v. Dukes, 256 S.C. 218, 223, 182 S.E.2d 286, 288 (1971) ("The delay must be attributable to the State before the appellants can complain."); see also Waites, 270 S.C. at 108, 240 S.E.2d at 653 (considering Waites's counsel's actions delaying the trial when assessing whether a speedy trial violation occurred).

constituted a legitimate reason for the delay in bringing the case to trial); cf. Barker, 407 U.S. at 531 (recognizing a missing witness is a valid reason justifying an “appropriate” delay).

Furthermore, although Appellant unquestionably did assert his right to a speedy trial, Appellant was tried during the third term of court that took place just six months after his first valid assertion of his right to a speedy trial, which weighs against a finding of a speedy trial violation.¹¹ See Robinson, 335 S.C. at 626-627, 518 S.E.2d at 272 (recognizing in a case involving a five-year delay Robinson’s speedy trial rights were not violated when he was tried within one year of first formally moving to dismiss his case); see also Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966) (“A speedy trial does not mean an immediate one; it does not imply undue haste, for the state, too, is entitled to reasonable time in which to prepare its case; it simply means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay.”). Finally, Appellant, who was not incarcerated for any period of time while awaiting trial for his victim’s murder during which he would not have otherwise been incarcerated due to an unrelated charge, neither suffered any actual prejudice nor attempted to identify any actual prejudice that could have resulted from the eighteen-month delay involved in his case, which strongly supports a conclusion his speedy trial rights were not violated. See State v. Cooper, 386 S.C. 210, 218, 687 S.E.2d 62, 66 (Ct. App. 2009) (characterizing prejudice to the defendant as the most important factor in an analysis of whether a speedy trial violation occurred); see also Loud Hawk, 474 U.S.

¹¹ Notwithstanding the fact Appellant’s pro se speedy trial motion from October of 2016 was not a proper motion since he was presumably represented by counsel when it was submitted, that motion would not have constituted a valid assertion of Appellant’s speedy trial rights since it sought dismissal as opposed to an actual speedy trial. See United States v. Frye, 489 F.3d 201, 211-212 (5th Cir. 2007) (“An assertion of [the] right [to a speedy trial] is a demand for a speedy trial, which will generally be an objection to a continuance or a motion asking to go to trial. . . . Frye’s repeated motions for dismissal of the capital charge are not an assertion of the right, but are an assertion of the remedy. A motion for dismissal is not evidence that the defendant wants to be tried promptly. . . . Frye’s motions for dismissal do not amount to an assertion of his speedy trial rights.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)).

at 315 (recognizing the “possibility of prejudice” is generally not alone sufficient to support a claim of a speedy trial violation); see generally United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 324-325 (1971) (“[N]o one suggests that every delay-caused detriment to a defendant’s case should abort a criminal prosecution.”); cf. Langford, 400 S.C. at 446, 735 S.E.2d at 484 (“[H]e cannot point to any evidence of anxiety caused by the stigma of being accused of these crimes.”).

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